Original

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

vs .

JAMES C. McKENZIE,

Respondent.

Case No. 72,575 TFB Nos. 87-23,020(06E) 87-23,023(06E)

#### RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

V

JAMES C. McKENZIE, Respondent P.O. Box 4579 Clearwater, FL 34618 (813) 442-6758

#

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND OF THE CASE

In the Referee's Report of June 2, 1989, he found that as to COUNT I of the Bar's Complaint, that exhibits No. 19, 21, 22, and 25 which were letters directed to the trial judge from the respondent constituted evidence that the respondent violated disciplinary Rules, DR 1-102(A)(5), DR 1-102(A)(6) and DR 7-106(C)(1). DR 1-102(A)(5) says a lawyer "shall not engage in conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice." And (6) is "engaging in other conduct that adversely reflects on his fitness to practice law." DR 7-106(C)(1) says a lawyer "shall not state or allude to any matter that he has no reasonable basis to believe is relevant to the case or that will not be supported by admissible evidence." (R.AP.1-4)

As to COUNT II of the Complaint, the Referee found a violation of DR I-102(A)(1), "violating a disciplinary rule"; DR 1-102(A)(5) "conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice"; DR 7-102(A)(1) "filing a suit merely to harass or viciously injure another"; DR 7-102(A)(2) "advancing a claim or defense that is unwarranted under existing law," and DR 7-102(A)(7), "assisting his client in conduct that the lawyer knows to be illegal or fraudulent". (R.AP.1-4)

This case was commenced by The Florida Bar on its own, without a complaint being filed by any party. The matters involved are two separate law suits in which the respondent represented the husband in a divorce case and in the other, the wife in a divorce case. COUNT I was the LANHAM divorce and COUNT II was the BISHOP divorce. In the first case the respondent represented the husband and in the second case he represented the wife.

### AS TO COUNT I - THE LANHAM CASE

The Bar's Complaint in COUNT I consisted of 17 paragraphs and 11 exhibits. After motions were made, the claim of "ex parte" was stricken by the Referee on November 3, 1988. (R.AP.5) The claim had been made in the Complaint that the letters which were sent, were sent "ex parte", (R.AP. 6) and after a hearing on respondent's motion were found not "ex parte", because the other side was always copied. (R.AP. 5)

Continuing again on the LANHAM matter, the Referee selected 4 Bar exhibits No. 19, 21, 22, and 25, in support of his findings. (R.AP.12-18) Included in these exhibits are also No. 20 and 24. (R.AP.13,17) While there is no need to go into all other exhibits introduced by the Bar as constituting a violation of disciplinary rules, some of them are important to show the nature and the background of how these disputes arose and will be included for that purpose along with various testimony established during the trial which took place April 6, 1989. Regarding the Bar's exhibit No. 19, dated April 11, 1986, the attorney opposing respondent therein somehow got a court date from the trial judge which allowed only a week's time between the

time it was scheduled and the time respondent was notified of such hearing for temporary alimony. case itself, LANHAM v LANHAM was commenced in December 19, 1984 and the case had dragged on interminably for several reasons. Outside of the temporary order which was entered in January, 1985, it was impossible to get a court date from the trial judge for any number of motions which The trial judge, at that time, was brand had to be made. new, having just been appointed in the previous year and, he had inherited a tremendous back log of cases which was occupying most of his time. (R.AP.20, T.T 199) on several occasions a substitute judge had to hear some of the matters, finally near September of 1985, the trial judge started hearing vaious matters in this case. Respondent, having gotten the motion for temporary alimony on April 11, 1986, went over to ask the judge's secretary for time in which to hear respondent's Motion for Continuance, because there was no way respondent could adequately prepare to defend such motion which would require the presence of respondent's client among other things, who was in the Merchant Marines and at sea at the time. The judge's secretary informed respondent that there was no way that respondent could have a hearing on his Motion for Continuance and stated that respondent should send a letter to the judge outlining all reasons for such continuance. That resulted in the letter

of April 11, 1986, Bar's Exhibit No. 19, pointing that out and stating a conflict because of another scheduled matter. (R.AP.19-20,12,TT198)Later on, respondent found out that opposing attorney had scheduled this matter on a afternoon that the judge kept reserved for hearing matters of contempt, (involving non-payment of support), and obviously when he found out that this matter was scheduled at that time, such motion was cancelled. Respondent went to the hearing at the scheduled time, found no one there and was informed by the judge's secretary that that particular motion had been cancelled. (R.AP. 21,T.T.201) Bar's Exhibit 20 appears to be ostensibly a letter written by opposing counsel, on the LANHAM case to The Florida Bar, indicating a copy had been sent to the trial judge. That April 14, 1986 letter accuses the respondent of making "ex parte communications to the court". (R.AP. 13)On April 18, 1986 respondent sent a letter to The Florida Bar inquiring about the letter written by opposing counsel dated April 14, 1986. The Florida Bar wrote back to respondent, (R.AP. 16).

Their response indicated they had never had a letter from Mr. Davis. This response was included in a letter respondent wrote to the trial judge indicating that in fact, opposing counsel had never even sent a letter to The Florida Bar, but wanted to have the trial judge think that he had done so.

The letter from The Florida Bar to respondent dated April 24, 1986, by Steven Rushing, Branch Staff Counsel, indicated that they had no letter from opposing counsel which respondent's letter referred to (R.AP.15-16). Respondent's letter of April 25, 1986 and The Florida Bar's letter of April 24, 1986 identified as Bar Exhibit No. 22, shows clearly that it was sent to opposing counsel. Bar's Exhibit No. 25, is respondent's June 12, 1986 letter to the trial judge, responding to Bar's Exhibit No. 24 which was letter written by opposing counsel to the trial judge. Bar's Exhibit No. 24, letter by opposing counsel dated June 9, 1986 acquses respondent of "lying, evasions, pretentions, unfounded and malicious charges of unethical behavior, persistent misrepresentations of this record, demanding that the trial judge set an emergency conference hearing." (R.AP. 17) Respondent's letter of June 12, 1986 accuses opposing counsel of making unfounded and odious remarks about respondent, way beyond the bounds of normal behavior. (R.AP. 18) When opposing counsel testified at the Bar hearing April 6, 1989, he stated that he was disbarred because of a felony conviction. (R.AP. 23) The Florida Bar did absolutely nothing about the misrepresentations and deceit of opposing counsel, despite DR 1-102(A)(4) and (5) and also that EC 7-37 states that "a lawyer should not make unfair or derogatory personal reference to opposing counsel."

The Florida Bar has been after respondent for years, solely because he advertises; not because he steals from clients, not because he neglects legal matters, not because he represents clients for excessive fees, not because he is an alcoholic or drug user. Providing low-cost services for routine legal matters apparently has upset The Florida Bar and certain members of the legal profession in Pinellas County. See please respondent's Exhibit (not numbered by the Referee), dated February 7, 1978, a letter from The Florida Bar to the Chairman of the Grievance Committee "C" of St. Petersburg, by a Michael C. Whittington relative to 3 matters brought to the attention of The Florida Bar, mentioning not that the 3 matters brought to The Bar's attention were violations, but that as an employee of "Consolidated Legal Clinics" he was assisting another in the unauthorized practice of law. (R.AP. 24) See also respondent's answer and affirmative defense which attempts to outline problems that respondent has had with The Florida Bar solely because he advertises consisting of trumped up cases which The Florida Bar has attempted to fit into some ethics violations. (R.AP In 1978 and up until about 1981 respondent was employed by Consolidated Business and Legal Forms d/b/a Consolidated Legal Clinics, which The Florida Bar put out of business because of the claim that this company was

operating and doing legal work for which it did not have a license to do so. The case was entitled THE FLORIDA BAR v CONSOLIDATED BUSINESS & LEGAL FORMS. 386 So.2d 797 (Fla. 1980). Respondent on his own, thereafter, continued to advertise. All of this time respondent was employed by this company to do routine legal matters, and when The Florida Bar came to respondent's office in late 1977, to accuse Consolidated Legal Clinics of practicing law without a license, they informed respondent at that time that "we are going to put your employer out of business and if you don't quit advertising, we are going to get you too". Shortly thereafter The Florida Bar sent accountants to respondent's office (without any complaint from any client), and went over respondent's trust account and other matters seeking to find some evidence of defalcation in his records. They did not find any. Later on they even sent their top accountant from Miami to respondent's office in about the year 1979 or 80, one Pedro Pizzaro, who spent 4 days in respondent's office, auditing respondent's books who found absolutely nothing wrong with respondent's books. Again, said audit being conducted without anyone ever complaining; meaning that The Florida Bar performed this audit all on its own to attempt to find some way to put respondent out of practising law. Although, this matter is not in the record, it is placed in here to show what The Florida Bar has

attempted to do to respondent over the years. Included also herewith as an Exhibit is a copy from the Clerk of The Supreme Court dated January 31, 1983 showing that respondent had filed a Complaint in this court in the form of an injunction to stop The Florida Bar from harrassment of respondent. (R.AP. 46) In fact the reason this Case No. 63-139 was never further prosecuted in The Supreme Court of Florida, is because they dropped whatever charges they had at that time against respondent. It should be painfully apparent to this court that ever since BATES v O'STEEN that The Florida Bar has done everything in its power to restrict, limit or to cancel the effects of lawyers advertising in Florida by one means or another. Included in respondent's Affirmative Defense in this case, was an editorial which appeared in The Florida Bar Journal, February, 1985 which shows that The Florida Bar has prosecuted attorney advertisers as a policy because they have never accepted the Florida lawyer's right to advertise. (R.AP. 43 - 45) There is pending at the present time, a move by The Florida Bar to restrict advertisers, based again upon an Iowa case that went to the U.S. Supreme Court. Of this, this court may take judicial notice. These two instant cases came on the heels of The Florida Bar suffering a defeat on 2 other cases that they had prosecuted against

respondent, again, **obviously** on trumped up charges, which that Referee immediately saw through as the trial of that matter progressed. (R.AP. 40-41)

#### AS TO COUNT II - THE BISHOP CASE

This case likewise involves a divorce matter in which respondent represented the wife. Again, this action was brought solely by The Florida Bar, not by any party. In COUNT 11, The Florida Bar alleges several matters which later turned out to be merely smoke, not violations, because the Referee's Report made no mention of those matters in his finding of violation by the respondent. Those matters are not necessary to go into except briefly. The Bar alleged in its Complaint that a threat was made by respondent against the attorney on the other side of the case; and, that in an attempt to engage another attorney on the other side of the case in conversation, respondent asked one of the attorneys in effect, what he was so excited about this case for, attempting to draw some conversation from the other attorney relative to perhaps to getting the matter settled, which The Bar attempted to claim had some material effect on the principal matter, (as was contained in the Referee's Report). Neither of these matters occurred anywhere near the chambers of the court and in no way was any judge involved in any way. (R.AP. 8-11) ing to the Referee's Report, however, he only based his violations on a suit commenced by respondent in the nature of a declaratory judgment action which attempted to nullify a contempt order of Judge DAVIS SETH WALKER which was signed August 26, 1985 which was nunc pro tunc to the day of the hearing,

August 9, 1985. (R.AP. 47) In the divorce action itself (BISHOP v BISHOP), wife was granted 2 years of rehabilitive alimony in September, 1983; prior to the end of the period of rehabilitative alimony, respondent, on wife's behalf filed a Supplemental Petition for Modification, asking for permanent alimony. Shortly thereafter a motion for temporary alimony was filed on September 22, 1985. (R.AP. 48-51) to obtain interim alimony for wife.

Inasmuch as there was a marital home, which the trial judge in 1983 did not award to either party, husband commenced an action of partition in which the parties agreed at a hearing to sell the marital home at a private sale. This order was entered February 26, 1985 which indicated that the parties had made an agreement to sell the property by private sale rather than have it sold pursuant to Chapter 64, Florida Statutes, (which allows the court to sell such property at a public sale). The events that followed the August 26, 1985 (R.AP.52 - 53)order of Judge DAVID SETH WALKER, finding wife in contempt for failure to list the property involved with a real estate agent, provided the sole basis for the Referee here to find ethics violations against the respondent. (R.AP. 2) All of the diciplinary rules found affected by the Referee's findings are solely based upon the events which occurred subsequent to the August 26, 1985 order. Respondent had no communication or word from his client whether or not she had signed the listing agreement by August  $16J_{\text{until}}^{1985}$  much later, when he received a letter

from the attorney on the other side of the case indicating that his client was not cooperating with the listing agent as to showing the house, etc. (R.AP. 54) The letter was from Thomas P. Colclough, the attorney on the other side of the case, to respondent, dated September 27, 1985, and some telephone calls to respondent by him shortly prior thereto, respondent was made aware of the fact that his client had in fact signed the lisiting agreement, but was failing to cooperate with the realtors as to getting the property sold; respondent not being aware of what actions his client was taking with regard to the property until well after 30 days had expired from the time of August 26, 1985. Respondent's client had been advised she could appeal said order and so testified. (R.AP.56, T.T.62) Respondent's advise to his client was to not sign the listing agreement even though it meant that the contempt order of August 26, 1985 might be called into play, respondent did not believe that the judge could, under Chapter 64, Florida Statutes, do anything in the premises except to sell the marital home at a public sale, and that therefore his contempt order was wholly without any jurisdiction." Therefore, on and after September 27, 1985, respondent's client filed a declaratory action against the various parties involved including the attorneys on the other side, the real estate agent, the judge involved in the matter and wife's former husband. The purpose of which was to negative the listing agreement which wife had signed in

which she had to go to jail if she did not do so. This was The Bar's Exhibit No. 6 (R.AP. 47).

In paragraphs 24 and 25 of The Bar's Complaint, it is alleged therein that respondent's client did not know that she was suing the defendants named in said law suit nor know that she was signing an affidavit of prejudice for use in that aforementioned case. (R.AP. 9) Furthermore, she signed an affidavit claiming "she was unaware she was actually suing the defendants therein for acts out of my divorce\* \* \*"(R.AP. 57). the same as alleged in The Bar's Complaint, claiming that she was unaware she was suing the various parties named in said suit, Bar's Exhibit 9. (R.AP.9)Furthermore, she testified at the trial to the same effect and reproduced herein in narrative form is her testimony:

"I was ordered to sign a listing agreement and to sell the house through multiple listing, it ordered me to list it with Century 21. Mr. McKenzie advised me that I could appeal that order. (R.AP.55-56, T.T.61-62) I understood that the purpose of the complaint was that I was not getting a fair deal, just to complain. I thought it was just a complaint of the way this case was being handled. I just thought it was to complain, about something, you know, about the way it was being handled. I didn't understand it to be a law suit. Mr. McKenzie never went over the document with me before I signed it." (R.AP.58-59 T.T. 65-66)

On March 14, 1989 there was filed with the court the deposition taken of respondent's client Meriam Bishop, n/k/a

Shrock (R.AP. 61). Her deposition being taken February 24, 1989, along with exhibits introduced at said deposition. She was asked first in said deposition whether Exhibit 1 of said deposition, a motion to make her vacate the home, was true or not, that wife had frustrated all attempts by the attorney on the other said to sell the home. (R.AP.62-63) which she generally denied. She was also asked to comment on the opposing attorney's letter of September 27, 1985 in which the opposing attorney stated several things that wife had not cooperated with in an effort to sell said home, to which she generally replied that the matters in said letter were not true.(R.AP. 54) This was deposition Exhibit No. 2. As to the deposition Exhibit No. 3, identified as the Complaint seeking to negative the court's order Consisting of two Counts

against the various defendants, (R.AP. 64-70) she testified as follows in narrative form:

> "I do know the purpose of that Complaint was to avoid the order that I was required to go to jail unless I signed the listing agreement. I knew that was so at the time I signed that Complaint. purpose of that litigation was to void the judge's order. I signed the Complaint September 27, 1985. As to deposition Exhibit No. 4, that is my signature on the Affidavit of Prejudice. We felt the judge was prejudice in that case. I read the Affidavit when I was in your office on the date of signing. We are talking about David Seth Walker. We wanted to get rid of him because of his prejudice. I knew the purpose of the document and I knew it when I signed it, "(R.AP. 71-77)

To go to the lengths to have respondent's client testify contrarily to the true facts, some threats somewhere must have been made by some of the principals involved, to get her to state things that simply were not true. There's no doubt from the Bar's Complaint, the Affidavit of Meriam Shrock f/k/a Bishop and her testimony on trial that her testimony at the deposition was entirely different and in fact opposite to what her testimony and the Affidavit provided.

Further, at the trial, the Bar also introduced as Exhibit No. 10 a document entitled Petition for Modification which was signed September 10, 1984, or approximately one year prior to her Supplemental Petition for Modification in order to secure permanent alimony. (R.AP. 78-80, 48-51) The purpose of this document was an attempt made by respondent's client to obtain the marital home as lump-sum alimony. The reason that the Bar introduced this document was to confuse the court into thinking that wife only sought to recover the home as "permanent" alimony rather than the Petition filed a year later in which she sought to recover permanent, periodic alimony. Also done for the purpose of showing that wife really didn't know anything about the events when occurred subsequent in the partition action, and that she was totally unaware what was taking place regarding the order of August 26, 1985 which following the hearing of August 9, 1985. Bar counsel BONNIE MAHON introduced the modification action commenced in 1984 in which respondent's

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