IN	THE	SUPREME	COURT	OF	FLORID	SID J. WHIT	DC
				(	Case No.	DLERK, SUPPENS	
t.				:	FFB NO.	87-23,020(06E) 87-23,023(06E)	V

THE FLORIDA BAR

Complainant.

v.

JAMES C. MCKENZIE,

Respondent.

THE FLORIDA BAR'S ANSWER BRIEF

BONNIE L. MAHON Assistant Staff Counsel The Florida Bar Suite C-49 Tampa Airport, Marriott Hotel Tampa, Florida 33607 (813) 875-9821 Attorney No. 376183

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Respondent's initial brief presents several arguments alleging that the Referee's findings in his report are erroneous.

First, the Respondent challenges the Referee's finding that his letters to Judge O'Brien dated April 11, April 18, April 25, and June 12, 1986 (R. Bar Exhibit #19, 21, 22, and 25) constitute violations of DR 1-102(A)(5), DR 1-102(A)(6), and DR 7-106(C)(1). This same argument was made to the Referee during the hearing on the Respondent's Motion for Rehearing. (R. Motion for Rehearing). The aforementioned letters to Judge O'Brien alluded to matters that the Respondent had no reasonable basis to believe were relevant to the Landham case or supported by admissible The Respondent's disparaging letters to Judge O'Brien evidence. attacked the character of the Respondent's opposing counsel. The letters written by the Respondent clearly reflect on the Respondent's fitness to practice law and further, the letters are prejudicial to the administration of justice.

Second, the Respondent challenges the Referee's denial of a rehearing or mistrial based on Bar Counsel having questioned Respondent about his past disciplinary record prior to a finding of guilt. Respondent made the same argument during the hearing on his Motion for Rehearing. The Respondent found that the

Respondent opened the door to Bar Counsel's inquiry about his past disciplinary offenses when he raised as an affirmative defense in his Answer, an allegation that The Bar had pursued him for a long time on trumped up charges due to the fact that the Respondent advertised. The Referee also found that the Respondent opened the door to his prior disciplinary record when he attached to his Answer a Report of Referee wherein Judge Steinberg found the Respondent not guilty of misconduct alleged by The Bar. (TR4,p.50,L.9-25,p.51,L.1-4; and R. Respondent's answer, p.6). Further the Respondent did not object to Bar Counsel's questions regarding his prior disciplinary record until after he answered the same. (TR1,p.117,L.23-25,p.118,L.1-6).

The Respondent also takes issue with the Referee's refusal to grant a rehearing based on the Respondent's allegations that Ms. Shrock committed perjury while testifying and that Bar Counsel introduced false and misleading evidence to prove The Bar's case against Respondent. The record is void of any evidence to support the Respondent's claims.

Third, the Respondent challenges the Referee's findings relating to the lawsuit styled <u>Shrock v. Judge Walker, et al.</u> The record is replete with facts and testimony to support the Referee's findings that the lawsuit filed by the Respondent was entirely without merit.

Fourth, the Respondent challenges The Bar's costs in the amount of \$2,052.80. On June 2, 1989, a hearing was held in

regard to The Bar's costs and at the conclusion of the same, the Referee found The Bar's costs to be in accordance with Rule 3-7.5(k)(1).

"A Referee's findings of fact are presumed to be correct unless clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support". The <u>Florida Bar v. Stalnacker</u>, 485 So.2d 815 (Fla. 1986). The Respondent fails to rebut the presumption of correctness. Therefore, The Bar asks this Court to uphold the Referee's findings of fact and its recommendations, which are abundantly supported by the record.

#### ARGUMENT

THE DISPARAGING LETTERS THAT THE RESPONDENT SENT TO JUDGE O'BRIEN ON APRIL 11, 18, 25 AND JUNE 12, 1986, CLEARLY VIOLATE THE DISCIPLINARY RULES OF THE FLORIDA BAR IN EFFECT IN 1986.

The Respondent challenges the Referee's finding that the letters he sent to Judge O'Brien on April 11, 18, 25 and June 6, 1986 violated DR 1-102(A)(5), DR 1-102(A)(6) and DR 7-106(C)(1).

Disciplinary Rule 7-106(C)(1), Code of Professional Responsibility, states: "in appearing in his professional capacity before a tribunal, a lawyer shall not state or allude to any matter that he has no reasonable basis to believe is relevant to the case or that will not be supported by admissible evidence". In the aforementioned letters to Judge O'Brien, the Respondent accused his opposing counsel of unethical conduct without substantial evidence of the same, and in addition, in several letters the Respondent set forth opposing counsel's prior disciplinary problems with The Florida Bar. The aforementioned matters were clearly not relevant to the Lanham's divorce action and, therefore, the Respondent violated DR 7-106(C) (1).

The Referee also found that the Respondent's letter writing to Judge O'Brien was extremely unprofessional. Further the Referee found that the judicial system and legal profession cannot tolerate the type of conduct engaged in by the Respondent.

It was the Respondent's own testimony which caused the Referee to make the aforementioned findings now challenged by the Respondent. At the final hearing, the Respondent testified as follows, in response to questions propounded by Bar Counsel regarding the reasons why he thought Mr. Davis sent a copy of his grievance against Respondent to Judge O'Brien:

- Q. Why do you think he did that?
- A. To make me look bad in his eyes so that he could get his way with my client.
- Q. Do you think this is why he did it?
- A. Well, certainly. There was no other reason to.
- Q. Is that why you sent a copy of your April 18 letter to the Judge?
- A. Sure. Because if he attempts to diminish me in the Judge's eyes, I have to fight that.
- Q. Was there any reason for your mentioning Mr. Davis' past ethical problems with The Florida Bar?
- A. He is complaining about me, I have a right to say whatever is truthful about him.
- Q. Well, did Mr. Davis put anything in his letter about your past ethical problems with The Florida Bar?
- A. Well, maybe he doesn't know anything about them. (TR2,p.208,L.1-17).

Based on the foregoing testimony, the Respondent sent letters to Judge O'Brien in order to prejudice the Judge against Mr. Davis. This conduct is not only prejudicial to the administration of justice, but also reflects on the Respondent's fitness to practice law. Therefore, the Respondent violated DR 1-102(A)(5) and DR 1-102(A)(6).

In addition, the Respondent knew that his conduct in the Lanham case was improper. During the final hearing, the Respondent testified as follows in response to questions by Bar Counsel regarding the proper procedures for bringing matters before the court:

- Q. I am just asking you isn't that the proper procedure that attorneys follow in cases that they are handling before the court?
- A. Sure, or whatever the motion might be.
- Q. And isn't that the proper procedure?
- A. Well, there is alot that is proper and alot of latitude.
- Q. O.K.
- A. I remember writing a letter to Judge Fogle because Judge Fogle didn't ask for any closing remarks on a case that I had. And Judge Fogel went over the roof when I wrote that letter. And I have a perfect right as a lawyer to make closing remarks following the trial of the case. It is something that lawyers are entitled to do. When he closed me off from not making closing remarks I wrote him a letter enclosing my closing remarks.
- Q. Enclosing your closing remarks?
- A. Yes, enclosing your [sic] closing remarks of the case.
- And he didn't like that at all.
- Q. Did he tell you it was improper?
- A. He told me it was ex-parte. And he even wrote to The Florida Bar about it. (TR2,p.209,L.1-24).

The Referee's findings were based on clear and convincing evidence established through the Respondent's own testimony and Bar Exhibit Nos. 19, 21, 22, and 25.

REFEREE 'S DECISION TO OVERRULE THE THE RESPONDENT'S OBJECTION ΤO BAR COUNSEL'S OUESTIONING THE RESPONDENT ABOUT HIS PAST DISCIPLINARY RECORD, PRIOR TO A FINDING OF GUILT, APPROPRIATE IN LIGHT OF WAS THERESPONDENT'S AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE.

The Respondent challenges the Referee's decision to overrule his objection to Bar Counsel's questions regarding Respondent's prior disciplinary record, prior to a finding of guilt. The Respondent claims the Referee should have granted a mistrial or rehearing. The Referees ruling was appropriate for two (2) reasons. First, the Respondent's objection to Bar Counsel's questions regarding his disciplinary record was untimely. Respondent did not object to Bar Counsel's questions until after he testified that he had been disciplined by The Bar on two (2) prior occasions. (TR1,p.117,L.23-25 and p.118,L.1-11). Second, the Respondent himself opened the door to Bar Counsel's questions regarding his disciplinary record. (TR4,p.50,L.9-25).

The Respondent's Answer to The Bar's Complaint contained a so-called affirmative defense that The Bar had "long pursued Respondent on various trumped up charges because he advertises and has done *so* since 1977...they use false affidavits to get by probable cause...Further, that the last matter brought by The Bar against Respondent and tried by Judge Ralph Steinburg of Tampa, Florida resulted in a not guilty verdict..." (R. Respondent's Answer, p.6, 7).

The record clearly shows that the Referee did not error in overruling Respondent's objection and denying a rehearing since Bar Counsel had the right to question the Respondent about his disciplinary record with The Bar in order to rebut the Respondent's affirmative defense. THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS IN REGARD TO THE LAWSUIT FILED BY THE RESPONDENT ON BEHALF OF MS. SHROCK AND AGAINST JUDGE WALKER, ET AL. ARE SUPPORTED BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE.

The respondent challenges the Referee's findings of fact in regard to the <u>Shrock v. Judge Walker</u>, et al. lawsuit on the grounds that his conduct did not violate the disciplinary rules of the Code of Professional Responsibility. In challenging the Referee's findings, the Respondent claims that the lawsuit was valid since Judge Walker had acted without jurisdiction in the partition action when he ordered Ms. Shrock to execute the listing agreement with Century 21 and when he found Ms. Shrock in contempt for refusing to do the same.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Stalnaker</u>, 485 So.2d 815, 816(Fla. 1986) this Court held that "a referee's findings of facts are presumed to be correct and should be upheld unless clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support". In addition, Rule 3-7.6(c)(5), <u>Rules of Discipline</u>, specifically states that "upon review the burden shall be upon the party seeking review to demonstrate the Report of Referee sought to be reviewed is erroneous, unlawful, or unjustified."

Respondent has failed to demonstrate in his initial brief that the Referee's findings of fact and recommendations are erroneous, unlawful or unjustified. The Referee's findings of fact are supported by clear and convincing evidence.

The Referee found that the lawsuit filed by the Respondent on behalf of Ms. Shrock against Judge David Seth Walker, opposing counsel, and others was entirely without merit. (RR,p.2). Based on this finding, the Referee recommended that the Respondent be found guilty of violating DR 7-102(A)(2), Code of Professional <u>Responsibility</u>, which provides in part that "a lawyer shall not knowingly advance a claim or defense that is unwarranted under existing law."

The aforementioned finding and recommendation by the Referee is based on the Respondent's own testimony. At the final hearing, the Respondent testified that he relied on the case of <u>Harper v. Merkle</u>, 638 F.2d 848(5th Cir. 1981) to support the viability of the lawsuit he filed on behalf of Ms. Shrock against Judge Walker, et al. In <u>Merkle</u>, <u>supra</u>, the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals set forth a two prong test to determine whether or not a judge has absolute judicial immunity for his acts. The two (2) prong test is as follows: (1) Whether the judge's actions were "judicial acts," and if *so*, (2) whether or not they fell clearly outside of the judge's jurisdiction. Merkle, <u>supra</u>, at p.858.

In determining whether Judge Walker had absolute judicial immunity for ordering Ms. Shrock to sign the Listing Agreement and holding Ms. Shrock in contempt for failing to execute the Listing Agreement, it must first be determine whether or not Judge Walker's actions were "judicial acts". In <u>Merkle, supra</u>, four (4) factors were set forth to determine whether a Judge's actions are "judicial acts". The four factors were as follows: (1) Is the precise act complained of a normal judicial function?; (2) Did the events involved occur in the Judge's chambers?; (3) Did the controversy center around a case then pending before the Judge?; and (4) Did the Judge's act arise directly and immediately out of a visit to the Judge in his official capacity? <u>Merkle, supra, at p.858</u> (quoting <u>McAlister v</u>. <u>Brown</u>, **469,F.2d** 1280, 1282 (5th Cir. 1972)).

The lawsuit filed by the Respondent on behalf of Ms. Shrock against Judge Walker, et al., dealt with Judge Walker's Order that Ms. Shrock execute a Listing Agreement with Century 21, and with the Judge's Order of Contempt against Ms. Shrock for failing to list the former marital home for sale. The issuance of Orders and the use of contempt power is a normal judicial function; the Orders involved were issued in Judge Walker's chambers; the Orders centered around the Partition action which was pending before Judqe Walker; and the Orders arose directly and immediately out of a hearing before Judge Walker in his official capacity; therefore Judge Walker's Orders were "judicial acts" and the first prong of the absolute judicial immunity test is answered in the affirmative.

At the final hearing, the Respondent admitted that Judge Walker had subject matter jurisdiction over the Partition action and personal jurisdiction over the parties. (TR1,p.109,L.17-21 and RR,p.2). Therefore, the second prong of the judicial immunity test is answered in the affirmative.

Since the Respondent reviewed and relied on <u>Merkle, supra</u>, he knowingly advanced a claim or defense that was unwarranted under existing law, and therefore he violated DR 7-102(A) (2).

The Referee also found that the Respondent filed the lawsuit on behalf of Ms. Shrock and against Judge Walker, et al. merely to harass opposing counsel and Judge Walker in an attempt to force them to take some action that would be to the benefit of the Respondent's client. (RR,p.2). In addition, the Referee found that the Respondent filed a lawsuit against Judge Walker, Mr. Colclough, Mr. Boake, and others to intimidate Mr. Colclough into not moving forward with the Partition action, and in addition, to cause Judge David Seth Walker to have to recuse himself from the Partition action. (RR,p.2). Based on the aforementioned findings, the Referee recommended that the Respondent be found guilty of violating DR 7-102(A)(1) and DR 7-102(A)(7), Code of Professional Responsibility. DR 7-102(A)(1), Code of Professional Responsibility, states that "a lawyer shall not file a suit, assert a position, conduct a defense, delay a trial or take other action on behalf of a client when he knows or when it is obvious that such action would serve merely to harass or maliciously injure another." In addition, DR 7-102(A)(7), Code of Professional Responsibility, states in part that " a lawyer shall not knowingly counsel or assist his client in conduct that a lawyer knows to be illegal or fraudulent." The Respondent's own testimony supports the aforementioned Referee's findings of fact and recommendations.

At the final hearing, the Respondent testified as follows in response to questions propounded by Bar Counsel:

- Q. So, its your testimony today that you didn't intend or you didn't think about filing such a lawsuit prior to the August 9, 1985 hearing, is that correct?
- A. I hadn't...or I hadn't given it any thought particularly except I had hoped to intimidate Mr. Colclough from going further with selling this property in that fashion. (TR1,p.93,L.5-11).
- Q. You filed a lawsuit against Judge Walker and the other parties in order to obtain permanent alimony for your client, isn't that correct?
- A. No, that wasn't the gist of the action.
- Q. O.K. Well do you recall making the statement to Mr. Woodworth as he testified today, "I don't know what your getting all sexed up about, all I am trying to do is obtain alimony for my client."
- A. That is all that I am trying to do and that was all I was ever trying to do... (TR1,p.105,L.5-11)
- Q. So one of your reasons for filing the lawsuit was also because you knew Judge Walker would have to recuse himself from the partition case, isn't that correct?
- A. Well, he did.
- Q. But you knew that before you filed, or you knew he would have to before you filed the lawsuit, didn't you?
- A. Well, of course--(TR1,p.107,L.10-18).

In addition to the foregoing, the Respondent testified during the final hearing that he counseled his client not to sign the Listing Agreement with Century 21. (TR1,p.90,L.24-25, p.91,L.1-5). The Respondent's advise to his client was contrary to Orders of the Court and contrary to the Final Judgment in the Complaint for Partition of Real Property which referenced the fact that Ms. Shrock stipulated to cooperate in the listing and sale of the former marital home. (R. Bar Exhibit 1).

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